FILE] JUN 18 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT

ALPHONSO CAVE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 63,172

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit In and For Pinellas County, Florida (Criminal Division)

> WAYNE R. MCDONOUGH Attorney for Appellant Saliba & McDonough PA 2121 14th Avenue Box 1690 Vero Beach, Florida 32960 (305) 567-6111

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, ALPHONSO CAVE, was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecutor in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit In and For Indian River County, Florida. However, as a result of a considerable amount of pre-trial publicity, the matter was transferred to and tried in Pinellas County, Florida. In the brief the parties will be referred to as "Appellant" or "Defendant". Appellee will be referred to as the "State" or the "Prosecutor". The symbol "R" designates the page number from the six volume transcript of final proceedings. The symbol "RS" designates the page number from the transcipt volume containing the Motion to Suppress, Motions for New Trial and Judgment of Acquital "OR" shall designate the page number from official record prepared by Pinellas County Clerks Office.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment was filed charging the Defendant with first degree murder, robbery with a deadly weapon and kidnapping.

Numerous motions were filed and entertained by the Court. One motion granted was Change of Venue as a result of the exhaustive pre-trial publicity relative to this matter. Trial commenced on the date of December 6, 1982 and sentencing was imposed on December 9, 1982. Defendant was convicted of all three charges and the Court imposed the sentence of death and two (2) concurrent life sentences. It is from these convictions and sentencing that Defendant appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of April 26, 1982, the Appellant, Alphonso Cave, met John Earl Bush, 'Pig' Parker and Terry Wayne Johnson in Fort Pierce, Florida. They began drinking, purchased a gallon of gin, consumed it and drove south towards Stuart, Florida in Bush's automobile. After driving for some period, the four men ultimately stopped at a Little General Store located near Stuart where Frances Slater was employed. Although there was no admissable testimony introduced at trial relative to the events which occurred at the Little General Store, according to Appellant's questionable taped confession, all four men proceeded into the store. Appellant admitted in his taped confession that he was the person who pulled the gun on Slater in the presence of his companions. After Slater handed over a small sum of money, she then was lead out of the store in the presence of all four men and placed in the backseat of Bush's car. Bush then drove towards Indian Town and ultimately stopped the car and pulled along the road. At that time, according to Appellant's taped confession, three of his companions exited the car on one side along with the victim. Appellant got out of the car on the other side. At that point, Bush stabbed the victim resulting in her falling to the ground. 'Pig' Parker then fired the fatal gunshot wound into the victim's head. All four men then got back into the vehicle and proceeded towards Fort Pierce. Appellant stated in his taped confession that he was drunk during the whole incident and further repeated several times during his taped confession he had not planned to kill the victim and played no part in the slaying. He believed they were going to let her go, not kill her. Various state witnesses testified resulting in identifying the victim (R 325, 327) and seeing her alive at approximately 2:46 a.m. on the morning of April 27. The state presented Danielle Symons, who testified that while waiting at

a stop light near the Little General Store, she looked into the store and saw several black men inside the store. In addition, she observed a certain vehicle parked outside the store which later was recognized by her as a result of a questionable vehicle lineup. She recognized the vehicle as that driven by and/or belonging to Bush. Ms. Simons witnessed four physical lineups and did identify Bush as one of the men seen by her on the morning in question. However, Ms. Simons did not pick out the Appellant although he was a participant in one of the four lineups. (R 351,352). The state presented various witnesses who introduced documents relative to the crime scene including the highly inflammatory and blown up colored photographs of the victim, some said photographs taken several days later at the coroner's office. The state called Dr. Ronald Wright who is forensic pathologist out of Fort Lauderdale. Dr. Wright testified that the cause of death was a). The state also bullet wound into the victim's head. (R 455 presented deputy Willie Williams of the St. Lucie County Sheriff Department. Deputy Williams accompanied Deputy Bargo in encountering the four men some time after 3:00 a.m. on April 27. Deputy Williams testified that he knew Appellant and identified him that morning. Officer Williams also testified that when he approached Bush's car, there were two black males outside the car, one was Bush and the other was Appellant. Deputy Bargo further testified that the two men located outside the car would have been front seat occupants. (R 487). This is significant in that the state argued circumstantially that at all times matrial to the incident and alleged crime, Appellant was in the backseat with the victim.

Detective Charles Jones with the Martin County Sheriff Department testified that after securing a search warrant for the Bush vehicle, he had a lengthy encounter with Bush which resulted in several statements, the last confession being a taped statement. Bush's taped statement was then played for Detective Lloyd Jones who directed various officers

of the Fort Pierce Police Department and Martin County Sheriff Department to locate the other three men including Appellant. At approximately 2:00 a.m. on May 5, four police officers proceeded to a rooming house which was the residence of Appellant. One of the officers advised Appellant that he was to accompany them to the State Attorney's office in Fort Pierce, Florida. (Rs 127). Once Appellant arrived at the State Attorney's office, he encountered numerous officers and was primarily interrogated by Detective Lloyd Jones. At the outset of their discussions Detective Jones advised Appellant that he had secured a taped confession from Bush which implicated Cave in the subject crime. Cave denied any involvement resulting in Detective Jones playing a portion of Bush's statement. Again, Cave denied any involvement resulting in Jones playing Bush's statement in its entirety.). Appellant testified during the suppression hearing that he denied involvement on three or four occasions. (R Appellant testified at the suppression hearing that Officer Charles Jones exerted more blatant form of undue influence in advising him that there is a possibility that he would be found dead along side a road unless he cooperated with the police. Ultimately, Appellant did make an incriminatory statement which resulted in the ultimate taped confession. (RS ١. 117

Appellant testified that he specifically requested an attorney but none was furnished him at any time during the interrogations session which lasted approximately three hours from 2:00 a.m. till 5:00 a.m. (RS 116). Further, Appellant requested that his mother be called down to the State Attorney's office before he made any statements however he did not see her until completion of the taped confession in question.

The State Attorney's theory of prosecution throughout the trial was the felony murder doctrine. The concept of that doctrine was repeatedly and frequently posed to the potential jurors during voir dire by the prosecutors and the court. In addition, the State Attorney

stressed the importance in application of the felony murder doctrine during closing arguments in both the guilt and sentencing phase. The record will reflect that the prosecutors engaged in highly inflamatory and prejudicial conduct during their closing arguments in both phases.

After receiving instructions from the court, the jury found Cave quilty of first degree murder, robbery with firearm and kidnapping. The court reconvened the following morning at the penalty phase of the trial. Neither the state nor the defense counsel presented any testimony or witnesses during the penalty phase. In fact, defense counsel did not present any witnesses or testimony either during the guilt phase or the penalty phase. After closing arguments, the court instructed the jury in what Appellant maintains is confusing and prejudicial instructions to the effect that a majority of jurors was required in order to bring back an advisory sentence. In fact, the jury presented the court with a handwritten informal advisory sentence stating that they were at a split decision. The jury further advised they would like it stated and published to the court of this advisory sentence. (R 792). The response to the jury's position, the court improperly reread portion of the jury instructions resulting in the jury bringing back a seven to five advisory sentence for death. The court in its dictated findings of fact and subsequent written findings of fact, stated that there was no evidence that Cave killed the victim. However, the court applied the felony murder doctrine in ultimately imposing death.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING
CERTAIN PROSPECTIVE JURORS ON CHALLENGES
FOR CAUSE IN VIOLATION OF WITHERSPOON VS
ILLINOIS.

In <u>Witherspoon vs. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510 (1968) the Supreme Court held that the State may exclude a venireman for cause only when it is unmistakably clear that he is 'irrevocably committed before the trial has begun to vote against the penalty of death regardless of the fact in circumstances that might emerge in the course of the proceedings'. (<u>Witherspoon vs. Illinois</u>, supra at 522 n.21.). The Court further stated that the State retains the right to exclude only those veniremen who:

"...make unmistakably clear (1)that they would <u>automatically</u> vote against the imposition of capital punishment without regard to any evidence that might be developed at the trial of the case before them or (2)that their attitude toward the death penalty would prevent them from making an impartial decision as to the defendant's <u>guilt..."(Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, supra, Emphasis in original).

The record is replete with evidence that the trial court misunderstood the holding in <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, as such misunderstanding resulting in improperly excusing two potential jurors for cause. During the course of its initial comments to the potential jurors, the trial court attempted to advise potential jurors as to the holding in <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, however a review of the court's comments substantiates the fact that the court misapprehended the holding in that decision. Specifically, the court addressed the potential jurors as follows:

"...now your belief either for or against capital punishment is your individual right as an American citizen. However, as it affects this case, I will ask this question: Does any juror have such a belief as to capital punishment, either for or against, that you could not or you would be reluctant to or you would even hesitate to find the defendant guilty of the offense in the first trial--that is, guilty of first degree murder

--if it is so proven to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt by the State of Florida that the defendant is guilty of first degree murder? Does any juror have such an opinion?...". (R 16).

The court made similar statements to the potential jurors throughout the course of trial (R 98, 99, 125).

Appellant maintains that the court's misunderstanding of the holding in <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u> resulted significantly in the improper exclusion of two potential jurors in violation of the holding in <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>. After superficially questioning Mr. Bennett relative to his position on Felony/Murder Doctrine, the court on its <u>own volition</u> asked "...may Mr. Bennett be excused for cause...". Naturally, the state attorney moved for a 'for cause' excusal at the court's direct invitation. That dialogue made for an interesting reversal of roles in that the court initiated a question relative to excusing a juror, which question was responded to affirmatively by the State Attorney's Office. (R 100).

Appellant's trial counsel immediately interjected, requesting the court to further question Mr. Bennett with regard to the issue. The court did not question Mr. Bennett any further but stated '...I will permit you [Appellant's Counsel] to question,...' (R 100). Although the court allowed Appellant's counsel to engage in limited inquiry, the court did grant the 'for cause' excusal after improperly terminating Appellant counsel's examination, thereby precluding a thorough Witherspoon inquiry. (R103). In sum, not only did the trial court refuse to engage in a meaningful dialogue with Mr. Bennett in order to comply with the doctrine contained in Witherspoon v. Illinois, but the court improperly limited the extent of inquiry by Appellant's counsel in that regard.

During the course of the discussion between Mr. Bennett and Appellant's counsel, the questioning proceeded as follows:

Mrs. Steger: Mr. Bennett, you would agree that there are some cases heinous, atrocious crimes whereby the death penalty would be appropriate, is that right?

Mr. Bennett: Absolutely. (R101).

After further dialogue, Mrs. Steger continued to question Mr. Bennett as follows:

Mrs. Steger: You would agree-what type of situation do you feel-

and this is in your own words-

Mr. Stone: Your Honor-

The Court: I feel-

Mr. Stone: In the interest of saving time, I think he has

repeatedly answered that he cannot possibly-

The Court: I agree.

Mr. Stone: sit in this case. (R 103).

Whereupon, the Court precluded any further inquiry by Mrs. Steger, Appellant's counsel, concluding that Mr. Bennett must be excused for cause.

Appellant maintains that the above dialogue alone indicates that Mr. Bennett would impose the death sentence under certain circumstances and further showed that he was not unmistakably and unequivocally opposed to the death sentence. The court's premature termination of Appellant's counsel inquiry of Mr. Bennett and the court's further refusal in engaging in inquiry himself in addition to relieving the state of its burden to show that a proper for cause excusal should have been granted resulted in a Witherspoon violation.

Next, the court improperly excluded Mr. Black on a 'for cause' basis under similar circumstances existing under the Mr. Bennett excusal in that after superficial inquiry, the court invited the state to motion for a 'for cause' excusal. (R 223). Again, Appellant's counsel had to interject by asking the court if she may question the potential juror so as to avoid an immediate 'for cause' excusal. It is apparent the court had predetermined that a 'for cause' excusal was appropriate and consequently granted the state's motion. It is critically important that neither juror was specifically asked the appropriate <u>Witherspoon</u> inquiry so as to determine if an excusal for cause was appropriate and in conformity with <u>Witherspoon</u>. Further, the excusal of the jurors exemplifies the constitutional infirmity in the death qualification process resulting in a prosecution-prone panel violative of the fair cross-section requirement in the Sixth Amendment. See <u>Grigsby v. Mabry</u>,

569 F. Supp. 1273 (1983) and <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 102, S.Ct. 3368 (1982).

Only after the above-referenced potential jurors were improperly excused for cause in violation of Witherspoon did the court further inquire as to the meaning of the Witherspoon decision. During counsel argument relative to potentially excusing a juror by the name of Ms. Shaw, the court inquired '...What is Witherspoon?...' (R 265) Counsel and the court had further dialogue on the meaning of Witherspoon during the next pages of the transcript. (R266, 267). Appellant maintains that had the trial court been more familiar with the holding in Witherspoon, then potential jurors could have been properly instructed or at least apprised as to the holdings in Witherspoon contrary to the information furnished them by the court throughout the jury selection process as referred above. (R 16, 125). In fact, Appellant maintains that had the court properly advised the potential jurors during the course of the trial as to the requirements of Witherspoon, then the jurors excused may have been in a better position in which to more intelligently discuss with the court had they been asked their position relative to the death penalty itself.

The record does not reflect that the two jurors excused for cause were irrevocably opposed to capital punishment and would automatically vote against the imposition of the capital punishment without regard to any evidence that might be developed during the course of trial. Appellant maintains that the prospective jurors were improperly excused for cause in violation of <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, supra; <u>State v. Chandler</u>, 442 So2d 171 (Fla. 1983); <u>Davis v. Georgia</u>, 429 U.S. 122 (1976); <u>Grigsby v. Mabry</u>, supra. In addition, the jurors excused herein resulted in their concern about the application of the felony murder doctrine contrary to Enmund v. Florida, supra.

In light of the court's fundamental error in connection with this point, Appellant maintains that his constitutional rights have been violated, as embodied in the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amend-

ments of the United States Constitution in Article I, Sections 2, 9, 16 and 17 of the Florida Constitution; consequently, the conviction should be reversed and the death penalty vacated.

POINT II

THE DEATH SENTENCE SHOULD BE VACATED AND THE JUDGMENT REVERSED ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE RECORD IS INCOMPLETE IN THAT THE TRANSCRIBED COPY OF APPELLANT'S TAPED CONFESSION IS ABSENT FROM THE RECORD; FURTHER, THE USE OF SAID EVIDENCE RELIED ON BUT NOT INTRODUCED AS A EXHIBIT AT TRIAL IS ERROR MANDATING REVERSAL.

The state introduced State's Exhibit 19 which purports to be a taped confession of Appellant. However, throughout the course of trial, a transcribed copy of the said taped confession was referred to and further read by both the court and the jury but was never introduced into evidence (R 543). Specifically, the court read the alleged certified copy of the transcribed confession of Appellant while listening to the taped confession during the course of the suppression hearing (RS 97). Appellant maintains that the court obviously relied upon that missing document while determining whether the confession should have been admitted as evidence and introduced at trial. The court denied Appellant's Motion to Suppress resulting in the introduction of the confession during the course of trial. In addition, each juror had individual copies of the alleged certified copy of the transcribed confession while listening to the taped confession during the course of the trial (R590, 591). The transscribed copy of the confession was read over the timely objection of defense counsel (R 543 ١.

Upon the review and perusal of the record, it has been determined that the alleged certified transcribed copy of Appellant's confession has not been included in the official record. A copy of the certificate of the Clerk of Court of Pinellas County attached as Appellant's Exhibit ' 'certifies that the transcribed confession is not part of the record. As a result, Appellate counsel has been precluded from examining a possible error and is unable to effectively raise an issue relative to a

substantial and significant item reviewed by the court and trier of fact during the course of trial. Further, Appellate counsel is precluded from comparing the taped confession with the alleged certified copy of the transcribed confession to insure that one tracks the other. In fact, the record reflects that fourteen alleged transcribed copies of the confession were distributed during the course of trial, over timely objections. (R 590, 591).

Rule 2.070(b), Florida Rules of Judicial Administration, provides in pertinent part:

'...(b) Record: When trial proceedings are being recorded, no part of the proceedings shall be omitted unless all of the parties agree to do so and the court approves the agreement...'

In addition, Florida Statutes and the applicable appellate rule mandate that the entire record be before this Honorable Court to determine if the interests of justice require a new trial. See §921.141, Fla. Stat. (1975); Fla. App. Rule 6.16.

As a result of the omission of the substantial and significant document, that this matter should be reversed and a new trial granted. Further, the court fundamentally erred by allowing the jury to read the transcribed copy (copies) over Appellant's objection when same was not introduced in evidence at trial. Appellant has effectively been denied the right for a direct appeal in the instant matter. See United States v. Selva, supra; Delap v. State, 350 So2d 462 (Fla. 1977); Wester v. State, 403 So2d 1109 (1981); Yancey v. State, 267 So2d 836 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); Hardy v. U.S., 375 U.S. 277 (1964).

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