#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	J.D	J. V	E	D	
	SEP	7	1984	•	

LEME COURT

ALPHONSO	CAVE, Appellant,	)		By Chief D
v.		)	CASE NO:	63,172
STATE OF	FLORIDA, Appellee.	) ) )		

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32304

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West PALM Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

##

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

## POINT XVII

TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTIONS
FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL, FOR NEW TRIAL,
AND TO PRECLUDE IMPOSITION OF DEATH PENALTY,
WAS PROPER AND APPROPRIATE IN ALL RESPECTS.
[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINTS XVIII, XIX) and XXVIII).

Under the appropriate standard of review, Appellant, by moving for acquittal, admitted all facts and inferences therefrom, as presented by the State's case-in-chief, as well as conceding all inferences and presumptions by this Court to be resolved in favor of the trial court's ruling. Muwwakil v. State, 435 So.2d 304 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); Green v. State, 408 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). In examining the State's evidence, it is apparent from the Record that denial of Appellant's motion was warranted.

Appellant's stated grounds, at trial, was the State's alleged failure to prove first-degree murder (on a premeditation theory), armed robbery, or kidnapping. (R, 2786-2788). A review of the Statement of the Facts, <u>supra</u>, and the Record, demonstrates that there was sufficient testimony and evidence presented as to all three criminal offenses, to present questions for the jury, including premeditated murder. <u>Green</u>, <u>supra</u>;

# Point X, supra; Statement of Facts, supra.

Appellant further alleged, in his motion for new trial (as to the guilt/innocence stage), the standard arguments challenging the weight of the evidence, and further reargued the grounds raised in his motion for a directed verdict of acquittal. (R, 337; 2150-2151). Since the trial court's prior denial of Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal was not a proper basis for a motion for new trial, the trial court's rejection was warranted. McArthur v. Nourse, 369 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1979). Appellant has not raised any argument or support, in his brief, to demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the trial court, in denying Appellant's other "mistrial" grounds. State v. Prieto, 439 So.2d 288 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); Baker v. State, 336 So.2d 364 (Fla. 1976).

Appellant's attempt at a conclusory "shotgun" approach, which in reality was an attack upon the sufficiency of the evidence, mandates affirmance of the denial of new trial. Perry v. State, 362 So.2d 460 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Coles v. State, 91 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 1957); Baker, supra.

Appellant's challenge to the trial court's refusal to preclude the death penalty in Points XIX and XX, has been adequately addressed by Appellee in Points X and XIV, <a href="supra">supra</a>.

## POINT XVIII

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION OF SECOND-DEGREE FELONY-MURDER, SINCE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SAME. [Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXI).

It is axiomatic that if there is no evidence presented to support a particular defense theory or view of the evidence, so as to merit a particular instruction, a defendant is not then entitled to have such an instruction given. Holley v. State, 423 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1980), cert.denied, 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct 369, 70 L. Ed.2d 195 (1981). The Record demonstrates that such was the proper reason for the trial court's refusal to instruct on second-degree felony-murder.

The particular element of second-degree felony-murder, which was not supported by the evidence on the Record, is that the defendant committing the killing did not commit, and was not involved in, the underlying felony. Section 782.04(3)(i), Florida Statutes (1982); also, see Florida Standard Criminal Jury Instructions, Felony-Murder - Second Degree (1981), at 66; State v. Lowery, 419 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1982). Because the evidence demonstrated that Appellant did participate, and was involved and present at the robbery and murder scenes, said evidence did not support a legal theory requiring evidence of non-presence and lack of involvement in the underlying felony. Lowery, supra; Palmes, supra.

The overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt rendered any such erroneous (if so) rejection of said requested instruction, as harmless. Allen v. State, 424 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Harden v. State, 422 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Palmes, supra.

## POINT XIX

TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY PREVENT DE-FENSE COUNSEL FROM OFFERING EVIDENCE AS TO WEIGHT OF APPELLANT'S CONFESSION, SINCE APPELLANT MADE NO PROFFER, AND SUSTAINING OF DEFENSE COUNSEL'S QUESTION CONCERNING VOLUNTARINESS OF CONFESSION WAS PROPER. [Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXIV)

Appellant has stated that defense counsel was improperly deprived of presenting evidence, as to the weight of Appellant's confession, to the jury. This claim has been procedurally barred, since the Record contains no proffer by defense counsel of evidence that, but for a ruling by the trial court, would have been presented on this question. (R, 2733-2740). Defense counsel specifically stated she would not cross-examine Officer Jones on this subject. (R, 2740). This Court must therefore affirm on this point. Ketrow v. State, 414 So.2d 298 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982); Bennett v. State, 405 So.2d 265 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Whitted v. State, 362 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1978), at 672.

On the merits, Appellant's counsel attempted to elicit, from Officer Jones, his opinion on the necessity of re-advising Appellant of his rights, after his verbal confession. (R, 2733). As the State and trial court correctly noted, the necessity for re-advising Appellant of his Miranda rights, presented a legal question, concerning the voluntariness of Appellant's statement, concerning his willingness to talk, and his knowledge and oppor-

tunity to exercise his rights while under questioning. Williams, supra, 386 So.2d, at 29. Such questions have consistently been viewed as preliminary inquiries, involving the admissibility of statements as evidence which are within the province of the trial court to determine. DeConingh, supra; Palmes, supra, at 653; Brewer, supra.

The trial court, far from restricting Appellant from eliciting testimony, on the weight of the confession, advised counsel she was free to ask a wide range of possible questions on the subject. (R, 2739, 2740). Defense counsel's lone inquiry was properly restricted, as an attempt by counsel to improperly re-visit the question of voluntariness before the jury. Palmes, at 653.

# POINT XX

CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES, FOR CRIMES OF ROBBERY AND KIDNAPPING, DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S RIGHTS AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY.
[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXIII)

Appellant's argument initially ignores the fact that the Record contains no attempt by Appellant to raise the double jeopardy issue by pre-trial motion, or a specific challenge on these grounds to the indictment, therefore waiving consideration herein of this issue. <u>Drakes v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 487 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>Bell v. State</u>, 262 So.2d 244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), <u>cert.denied</u>, 265 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1972).

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> appropriate preservation of the issue, a determination as to whether robbery and kidnapping were "lesser included offenses" of murder for double jeopardy pur-

poses, depends upon an examination of the statutory elements, to see if one offense "..requires an element of proof that the other does not..." State v. Baker, (Case No: 63,269)[9 FLW 282][Fla. Supreme Court, July 12, 1984]; Bell v. State, 437 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 1982); State v. Carpenter, 417 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1982); Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932).

In examining the statutory offenses of first degree murder, kidnapping and robbery, it is evident, under this test. that each statute fits this test. Baker, It has been held that "Because the robbery statute requires the taking of property, which the murder statute does not, and the first degree murder statute requires an unlawful killing, which the robbery statute does not...", Ennis v. State, 364 So.2d 497 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978), at 499, the offenses of robbery and murder are not deemed the "same offense", for double jeopardy purposes. Id. Furthermore, the kidnapping statute requires forcible confinement or abduction of an individual against his consent, with intent to commit any one of four alternative acts; the murder and robbery statutes do not involve these considerations. Section 787.01, Florida Statutes (1979); Section 782.04, Florida Statutes, (1977); Section 812.13, Florida Statutes (1980); Blockburger, Therefore, there was no double jeopardy violation created supra. by Appellant's multiple convictions on different, dissimilar criminal offenses, even though arising out of the same facts.

According to this Court's latest treatment of the issue in Baker, supra, neither robbery or kidnapping could be considered as "necessarily lesser included offenses". Baker, at 282. As defined by this Court, a "necessarily" lesser included offense is one in which the lesser offense is always an essential aspect of the major offense, as with robbery and larceny, since "... every robbery necessarily includes larceny". Brown v.

State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968), at 381-382 (e.a.). Robbery and kidnapping are not in all circumstances necessarily included in proof of murder, unless, depending on the evidence, the theory of murder is felony-murder. Thus, the foregoing analysis and test apply herein, because robbery and kidnapping must be considered, at most, as "Category 4" offenses under Brown, supra, and do not involve the same elements as that of murder, by statute. Baker, at 283; Bell, supra; State v. Gibson, (Case No. 61,325)[9 FLW 234, 235, and 235, n.2][Fla.Sup.Court, June 14, 1984].

Thus, under the appropriate Constitutional analysis, the separate convictions and sentences for robbery and kidnapping, herein, does not violate double jeopardy considerations. <a href="Baker"><u>Baker</u></a>; <a href="Gibson"><u>Gibson</u></a>, <a href="Supra">supra</a>; <a href="Bell">Bell</a>. The Florida legislature enactment of a separate and cumulative statutory scheme for each of the three crimes, further mandates this conclusion. <a href="Bell"><u>Bell</u></a>; <a href="Missouri v.">Missouri v.</a></a> <a href="Hunter"><u>Hunter</u></a>, <a href="U.S."</a>, <a href="103">103</a> S.Ct 673</a>, <a href="74">74</a> L.Ed.2d 535 (1983); <a href="Gibson">Gibson</a>.

## POINT XXI

OFFICER'S TESTIMONY, AS TO FACT THAT CO-ACCOM-PLICE HAD IMPLICATED APPELLANT, DID NOT CONSTI-TUTE BRUTON VIOLATION; FURTHER, ERROR, IF ANY, WAS HARMLESS. [Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXV)

Appellant's assertions on this point have been procedurally barred, by virtue of Appellant's concession at trial that said statement, as connected to evidence demonstrating Appellant's acquiescence in the trial court's limitation of such evidence, (R, 2716), further precludes appellate review on this point.

Pope, supra; McCrae, supra.

On the merits, the Record demonstrates that no Bruton rule violation occurred. The statement given by John Bush, was never introduced at trial, and Bush and Appellant were not joint-It was apparent from the State's proffer that Officer ly tried. Jones merely indicated he had taken a statement from Bush, and that said statement had been made. (R, 2680, 2681). This testimony does not constitute the introduction of a co-accomplice's statements, against Appellant. Bruton, supra. When there was any testimony as to the nature of Bush's statement, inculpatory of Appellant, it was in compliance with the trial court's instruction, pursuant to defense objection that references to Bush's statement were limited to the relation of said statement to Appellant. (R, 2716).

The underlying premise of a <u>Bruton</u> violation is the introduction of incriminating statements against a defendant, and the denial of the right to cross-examine and confront the person making the inculpatory statement. Hall v. State, 381 So.

2d 683 (Fla. 1978); <u>Bruton</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, the only testimony on the nature of Bush's statement came from Officer Lloyd Jones, who was available for cross-examination and was present during the transcription of Bush's statement. <u>Pena v. State</u>, 432 So.2d 715 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Thus, the underlying basis of a <u>Bruton</u> problem, did not exist herein.

Assuming there was a <u>Bruton</u> error (R, 2716-2717), Appellant confessed to the crimes, inculpating himself and his accomplices, as admitted at trial. (R, 2753). This fact, and the overwhelming proof of Appellant's guilt, made the officer's testimony on this point (if erroneous) clearly harmless, ordid not constitute a <u>Bruton</u> violation. <u>Parker v. Randolph</u>, 442 U.S. 62, 99 S.Ct 2132, 60 L.Ed.2d 713 (1979); <u>Harrington v. California</u>, 295 U.S. 250, 89 S.Ct 1726, 23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969); <u>Hall v. Wainwright</u>, 559 F.2d 964 (5th Cir 1977), <u>cert.denied</u>, 434 U.S. 1076, 98 S.Ct 1266, 55 L.Ed.2d 782 (1978); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); <u>Gafford v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Damon v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1224 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981).

# POINT XXII

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR FUNDS FOR EXPERTS.
[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINTXXVI)

Appellant's subject motions, seeking funds for expert assistance, were no more than general, conclusory and speculative requests, resembling a "fishing expedition". (R, 148-149; 150-151). Appellant did not present any specific grounds, or de-

fenses, or allege the manner in which any such ground or defense would be aided or shown by such expertise.

Appellant cites no authority for his proposition that he was Constitutionally entitled to such assistance. It has been held in Florida that the right of any witness to compensation by a governmental entity is purely and entirely dependent upon the creation of such entitlement in Florida, by statute.

Palm Beach County v. Rose, 347 So.2d 127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), quashed on other grounds, 361 So.2d 135 (Fla. 1978). Appellant has not based his right to authorization of payment, by the State, for such experts, upon any statutory authority in Florida.

Federal courts have authorized <u>state</u> payment of expert assistance funds <u>only</u> when the nature of the assistance sought is psychiatric, and there is a serious issue as to the sanity of a criminal defendant. <u>Hoback v. Alabama</u>, 607 F.2d 680 (5th Cir 1979), at 682, n. 1; <u>Pedrero v. Wainwright</u>, 590 F.2d 1383 (5th Cir 1979), at 1390-1391, and cases cited therein. Appellant sought no such specific assistance from the trial court.

Thus, the trial court properly denied such motions for expert assistance funds.

#### POINT XXIII

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE EXCLUSION OF MOTHERS WITH CHILDREN UNDER FIFTEEN, FROM JURY SERVICE; FURTHER, ERROR, IF ANY, WAS HARMLESS.

[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXXX)

Appellant's claim in this regard infers that since Section 40.013(4) of the Florida Statutes was held Unconstitutional, see Anthony v. Alachua County Court Executive, 403 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), affirmed, 418 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1982), the trial court should have precluded exclusion of mothers of fifteen year old children, per se. (R, 143-144). Appellant made no showing that any such potential jurors were excluded on such a basis by the trial court, or that any such individual potential jurors could not have been subject to exclusion from service from any other reason. Section 40.013 et seq, Florida Statutes (1983).

Furthermore, Appellant has not demonstrated any prejudice, as a result of the trial court's denial of relief, since there was no automatic exclusion of any potential juror, by virtue of being a mother, employed full-time with children under 15 years old. (R, 2176-2465).

Thus, Appellant's point herein lacks merit.

# POINT XXIV

SINCE APPELLANT'S INDIVIDUAL APPELLATE
POINTS LACK MERIT, AND DO NOT CUMULATIVELY
DEMONSTRATE ERROR, APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF
FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT.
[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXX)

Since Appellee has demonstrated the lack of merit in each and all of Appellant's issues, Appellant's claim of 'cumulative fundamental error' is insufficient on its face.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Effective June 23, 1983, Section 40.013(4) was rewritten, to provide for excusal of expectant mothers or parents not employed full-time, and in custody of children under 6 years old.

## POINT XXV

SECTION 925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES (1981)
DOES NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS.
[Restated] (APPELLANT'S POINT XXXI)

Appellant's challenge to this statute must be summarily rejected, from a procedural standpoint, since it was not raised before the trial court, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982), and does not constitute fundamental error. <u>Hargrave v.</u> State, 427 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1983).

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